 Virginian Railway Station Restoration Complete in Roanoke, Virginia
By James Cosby and Skip Salmon
Roanoke Chapter, National Railway Historical Society is pleased to announce completion of the restoration of the Virginian Railway Station in Roanoke in July 2016.  It has been a fifteen-year effort.

Background.  The Virginian Station was built in 1909 and opened in 1910 as the crowning jewel of stations on the Virginian Railway which stretched from Deepwater (near Charleston) West Virginia to Norfolk, Virginia.  Financed and built by Henry Huttleston Rogers, it competed with the Norfolk and Western, Chesapeake and Ohio and other railroads for the coal traffic fueling the American and foreign economies at the height of the industrial revolution.  Built in the 20th Century, the Virginian had a more favorable grade than its 19th Century competitors and was profitable throughout its existence.  

In its heyday in the 1940s, the Roanoke station served four passenger trains daily, two east and two west-bound.  Railroad passenger traffic nationwide declined after World War II as the travelling public turned to airlines and automobiles.  Passenger service through Roanoke on the Virginian ended in 1956.  
The Virginian was merged into the Norfolk and Western in 1959.  The passenger station was used by the N&W for offices and storage for a few years, then leased to feed and seed store tenants.  It was still used for such when it tragically burned on January 29, 2001 and was substantially destroyed.  It was a bitterly-cold winter night.  Cause of the fire was attributed to homeless vagrants lighting a fire in a 55-gallon drum under the eaves at the west end of the building.  The fire spread to the roof trusses throughout the two adjoining buildings collapsing the heavy tile roof into the interior.  
Restoration Efforts began in March, just five weeks after the fire.  A community meeting was called for those interested in preserving this historic and architecturally significant structure on one of Roanoke’s principal downtown streets.  Attendees represented the Roanoke Chapter NRHS, the Roanoke Valley Preservation Foundation, the City of Roanoke and other organizations.  

In 2005, Norfolk Southern Corporation, successor to The Virginian Railway (and Norfolk & Western) donated the property “as is” to the Roanoke Chapter and preservation efforts accelerated.  

An informal “working partnership” was formed between the Roanoke Chapter NRHS and the Roanoke Valley Preservation Foundation.  Both were Section 501(c )(3) organizations under the tax code.  Both provided volunteer members to the Virginian Station Restoration Committee.

Now owning the property, funding on the order of $2 million would have to be obtained.  Contact was made with local Congressman Bob Goodlatte and his office.  They agreed that it was an important local goal and obtained a Congressional appropriation of $256,000 in 2005.  
Alison Blanton of Hill Studio and the Roanoke Valley Preservation Foundation and Ken Miller president of the Roanoke Chapter made application to the City of Roanoke and the Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) for Transportation Enhancement funds available for historic and architecturally significant transportation structures including railroad stations.  Additional applications and grants would follow.
The City of Roanoke obtained an EPA (Environmental Protection Agency) grant to aid in Brownfields cleanup of the substantial asbestos and lead paint contamination present on the site.  A campaign for private donations was begun in the railroad and railfan community to help meet the requirement for a local match of at least 20%.  Norfolk Southern and General Electric, the two major employers in the community who offer matching contributions for their employees and retirees made significant matching contributions.  In all, approximately $2.3 million was raised including the value of the donated property and in-kind contributions. 
Jim Cosby, Skip Salmon and Jeff Sanders had come on board the Chapter and Committee in 2007 as Chairman of the Restoration Committee, Secretary and Co-Leader and President of the Chapter respectively.  By 2010 the Chapter was ready to roll.
Bidding and Building.  Or so we thought.  

It took two years for project professionals (attorneys, architects and contractor) to be approved and employed.  With over twenty government agencies involved and required to give their approvals, the process dragged out over years.  Finally, in 2011 Phase I was advertised for bids.  The lowest bid was accepted by the Chapter only to be rejected by VDOT for reasons not relevant here.  The only recourse was to re-bid.  
On re-bid in 2011, a local company, G & H Contracting, Inc. of Salem, Virginia was the lowest bidder.  Their bid was accepted and the work was completed on time by July 31, 2012.  Phase I included Brownfield clean-up of the substantial contamination, stabilization of the building walls and replacement of the terra cotta roof.  Our architect Barry Rakes had learned that the company which had provided the original terra cotta tile in 1909, Ludowici Company in Ohio, was still in existence.  They were contacted and provided the replacement tile in the same style and color as the original.  
Before Phase I was complete, the Chapter began seeking approval of the documents required to employ professionals for Phase II.  With delays caused by multiple drafts (up to eight) of the same documents, this process took two years.  Spectrum Design and Barry Rakes were employed as architects and engineers.  
Phase II was bid in 2014.  G & H was again the lowest bidder.  Their bid was accepted by the Chapter but was rejected again by VDOT on a technical issue.   The re-bid in 2015 was accepted and final restoration began.  This included completion of the interior, all electrical and mechanical systems, landscaping and a monument area to honor the Virginian Railway and its employees.  
The Chapter’s architects paid as much attention to historical preservation in Phase II as they did in Phase I.  Chapter Historian Ken Miller and Architect Barry Rakes determined the original paint scheme from historical documents and paint chips from the window frames and sills.  Ken even had the paint formula from a century ago.  All window frames and doors were removed before the restoration, stored in a trailer on premises, re-finished and re-installed.  Lamp fixtures were replaced with modern equivalents and “look a-likes”, including the lamp posts outside.  Even the mop sink in the women’s room and the urinal in the men’s room are “historic originals” over 100 years old.   The terrazzo floor was damaged in the fire but was restored to a modern day beauty.  
Use of the Buildings.  The smaller Baggage and Express building will be used by the Chapter as its principal office with a display area for artifacts and exhibits from and about the Virginian Railway and its employees.  These will include murals, recorded video interviews with former VGN employees and computers with internet access to historic railroad documents.  

The larger Passenger Station building will be leased to a tenant yet to be determined.  The building is at the Jefferson Street gateway to the Riverside Development area including the Virginia Tech – Carilion Medical School, clinic and research center.  The rental income from the passenger station is intended to fund expenses for the entire station property. 
Tribute to Perseverance.  Many people have contributed to this beautiful restoration of a railroad station long on the National List of Historic Landmarks.  Alison Blanton of the Roanoke Valley Preservation Foundation is the only person who has been on the Restoration Committee from start to finish fifteen years later.  As a superb grant writer, she also raised more money than all others combined.  Ken Miller, past president and historian of the Chapter has been active throughout.  

The authors of this tract, Jim Cosby and Skip Salmon and President Jeff Sanders have served as the principal leaders for about ten years.  With his background in law, finance and computers, Jim handled bidding, contracting and financial issues.  With his railroad and engineering background, Skip handled property management, building, contractual and performance issues. 
This restoration took fifteen years, two public Requests for Proposals to hire professionals, four Invitations to Bid for contractors, and many negotiations with government administrators.  We realize about 80% of our funding is public tax dollars requiring public accounting and governmental review and control, but the timeline has been incredibly long.

Nevertheless, we take pride in all of the hundreds (if not thousands) of hours of management and development time contributed by dedicated volunteers at no cost for the pure love of railroads and their history and our desire to preserve them.  
James Cosby is a retired federal trial attorney and senior financial analyst.  He has served as Treasurer of the Roanoke Chapter NRHS and Chairman of the Virginian Station Restoration Committee since 2007.
Skip Salmon is a retired electrical engineer and manager from Norfolk Southern Railway. He has served as Chapter Secretary, Director, and Secretary of the Virginian Station Restoration Committee since 2007.  
© 2016 James Cosby and Skip Salmon. 
- 1 -

